
 

 1 

 

Minutes 

Public Hearing 
 

January 20, 2026, 5:00 p.m. 
Council Chambers/Video Conference 

10150 Bottom Wood Lake Road 
Lake Country, British Columbia V4V 2M1 

 
Council Present: Mayor Blair Ireland 
 Councillor Tricia Brett 
 Councillor Heather Irvine 
 Councillor Michael Lewis 
 Councillor Todd McKenzie 
 Councillor Bib Patel 
 Councillor Cara Reed 
  
Staff Present: Paul Gipps, Chief Administrative Officer 
 Jeremy Frick, Director of Planning & Development 
 Trevor James, CFO, Director of Finance & Administration 
 Darren Lee, Fire Chief 
 Matthew Salmon, Director of Infrastructure & Development Engineering 
 Brad Savoury, Director of Legal Services and Risk Management 
 Reyna Seabrook, Director of Corporate Services 
 Matt Vader, Director of Parks, Recreation & Culture 
 Carie Liefke, Manager of Current Planning 
 Shaun Lesowski, Parks and Facilities Manager 
 Richard Wagner, Manager of Finance 
 Kiel Wilkie, Capital Project Manager 
 Brian Zurek, Manager of Long Range Planning 
 Makayla Ablitt, Manager of Corporate Administration 
 Shara Glenn, Legislative and FOI Coordinator 
 Cory Drinkwater, Support Analyst 
  
Others: Youth Councillor Mochinski 
_____________________________________________________________________ 

 

1. Acknowledgement 

We acknowledge that we are conducting our business today on the unceded territory of 
squilx”/syilx (Okanagan) peoples. As a Council, we recognize the importance of doing our best to 
build respectful relationships that contribute to stewarding the land and waters in the 
community with integrity and consideration for future generations. 

2. Public Hearing Statement 



 

 2 

The Mayor called the meeting to order at 5:00p.m and read the Public Hearing Statement.  There 
were approximately 75 people in attendance. 

3. Area Structure Plan| ASP00002 | 11470 Bond Rd 

3.1 Public Hearing Package 

a. Report(s) to Council 

b. Presentation(s) to Council 

Applicant Stephen Duke presented 

c. Bylaw(s) Proposed 

d. Council Resolution(s) 

e. Public Hearing Notices 

f. Public Input Received 

Updated to include correspondence received as of January 20, 2026 at 9:30am. 

3.2 Public Comment 

Bob Horner | Bond Rd 

Mr. Horner spoke in opposition to the application. He stated the proposal is 
incompatible with the area’s rural residential character, inconsistent with existing 
planning documents, and represents spot zoning that could set a problematic precedent. 
He expressed concerns about the significant increase in density, lack of appropriate 
transition from existing RR2 zoning, and the impact on traffic and road safety, noting 
Bond Road is not designed for higher volumes. He added that taxpayers should not be 
expected to fund infrastructure upgrades for such development.  

Ann Marie Locas | Bond Rd 

Ms. Locas spoke in opposition to the application and read a statement that was 
previously submitted. 

Norm Sabourin | Jackson Court 

Mr. Sabourin spoke in opposition to the application. He raised concerns about 
inadequate parking within the proposed development, spillover parking on surrounding 
streets affecting school pickup areas, road safety, snow clearing, and neighborhood 
access. He also questioned infrastructure issues, including sewer servicing and potential 
taxpayer costs. He concluded that he is opposed to the increased density and inclusion 
of the property within the urban containment boundary. 

Dustin | Lake Country 

Dustin spoke in support of the application. He stated that Lake Country lacks affordable 
housing options such as condos and townhomes, especially near schools, and noted 
strong demand from younger buyers, families, and retirees. He believes the project 
would fill a significant housing need and expressed confidence that issues such as 
parking and infrastructure can be addressed. 

Rob Geier | Artela Rd 



 

 3 

Mr. Geier spoke in opposition to the application. He expressed concerns about the scale 
of the proposed development in a predominantly agricultural and large-lot area, 
potential precedent-setting impacts, increasing congestion, and insufficient existing 
infrastructure such as sidewalks and safe roadways. He stated that the area is not ready 
for a development of this magnitude and that approving it could trigger further 
incompatible density in the corridor. 

Phil Bakker | Okanagan Centre Rd E 

Mr. Bakker spoke in opposition to the application. He expressed concerns about 
deteriorating road conditions, lack of sidewalks and lighting, and questioned the 
accuracy of reports suggesting minimal infrastructure impact. He stated he has 
significant reservations about the project and doubts the District’s ability to assess its 
true effects. 

Autumn Rolfe | Lacresta Rd 

Ms. Rolfe spoke in opposition to the application. She expressed concern that Davidson 
Road Elementary is already at or near full capacity and questioned how additional 
families from a 55-unit development could be accommodated. She noted uncertainty 
about whether the units would be purchased by families and stated that placing 
higher-density housing next to an over-capacity school is unwise. 

Kristy Reich | Bond Rd. 

Ms. Reich spoke in opposition to the application. She expressed concerns about school 
capacity, construction noise and disruption, unsafe traffic conditions, lack of 
infrastructure such as sidewalks, and the long-term impacts on nearby students and 
residents. She stated that the proposal is inappropriate for the location and strongly 
opposed it. 

Nicole Kennedy | Lacresta Rd 

Ms. Kennedy spoke in opposition to the application. She questioned the claim that the 
project would provide “low-cost housing,” noting that no pricing information had been 
provided and expressed concern that the units may still be unaffordable for many 
residents. She emphasized uncertainty about the actual cost of the units and stated that 
this undermines the credibility of the project being presented as low-cost housing. 

Barb Van Essen | Lake Country 

Ms. Van Essen spoke in opposition to the application. She raised concerns about traffic 
safety, inadequate road and sidewalk infrastructure, uncertainty around rental vs. 
ownership units, and the rapid escalation of proposed density on the property from the 
previous application. She expressed doubt about traffic impact assessments and 
questioned how the development aligns with broader housing and vacancy needs in the 
community. 

Alicia Black | Powley Court 

Ms. Black expressed her support for affordable housing in general but does not support 
this application in this location. She shared personal experience living in a high-density, 
tandem-garage development and described ongoing parking overflow and congestion 
issues. She noted similar challenges would likely occur here and stated that while 
affordable housing is needed, it should be located in areas already designated and 
properly equipped with the necessary infrastructure, rather than introduced through 
spot zoning in this neighborhood. 



 

 4 

Mark Lafontaine | Bond Rd. 

Mark Lafontaine spoke in opposition to the application. He expressed concern about 
spot rezoning, inconsistency with the recently adopted OCP, and the precedent such a 
change would set for rural neighbourhoods. He stated that the proposal is out of step 
with the community’s rural character and urged Council to consider the long-term 
implications for the area. 

Melanie Kerr | Lacresta Rd 

Ms. Kerr spoke in opposition to the application. She emphasized significant 
pedestrian-safety concerns at the nearby intersection, noting that steep slopes and 
challenging topography make it difficult to envision how safe walking routes, particularly 
for school children, could ever be created. She stated that the physical layout of the area 
presents inherent risks that would be exacerbated by added density. 

Chris Manchulenko | Bond Rd. 

Mr. Manchulenko spoke in opposition to the application. He highlighted ongoing school 
capacity issues, noting children are unable to enroll due to the school already being full. 
He questioned the accuracy of information provided to Council regarding school 
consultation, pointing out confusion about which school district had been contacted. He 
urged Council to verify school-capacity details and ensure that decisions are based on 
accurate, properly sourced information. 

Reanna Bauder | Cemetery Rd 

Ms. Bowder spoke in opposition to the application. She expressed concern about school 
capacity, noting young children and families in the area already struggle to secure 
placement at the local elementary school. She also referenced deteriorating road 
conditions and emphasized that the proposal’s impacts would directly affect families 
living nearby. 

Archit Goyal | Lake Country 

Ms. Goyal spoke in opposition to the application and read a statement that was 
previously submitted. 

Mark Packer | Lake Country 

Mark Packer spoke in opposition to the application. He stated that while he supports 
housing and responsible growth, he believes this proposal represents excessive and 
inappropriate density. He expressed concerns about traffic, inadequate parking, and 
what he views as the developer prioritizing profit over community impacts. He stated he 
is 100% opposed to the development. 

Mary Manchulenko | Bond Road 

Marie Machlanco spoke in opposition to the application. She noted that discussion has 
focused heavily on the elementary school but emphasized that students will also need to 
travel to the middle school, which currently lacks safe walking infrastructure. She stated 
that both sidewalk and transit capacity are inadequate to support increased density in 
this location and concluded that the area does not have the infrastructure required for a 
development of this scale. 

Arnie Friesen | Cemetery Rd 



 

 5 

Mr. Friesen spoke in opposition to the application and read a statement that was 
previously submitted. 

Lauren Shulte | Bond Rd 

Ms. Shulte spoke in opposition to the application. She expressed concern that the 
applicant’s claim about walkable access to nearby schools is misleading given that 
students are often redirected to schools outside the area due to capacity limits. She also 
questioned the affordability of the proposed units, stating that infrastructure 
requirements make true affordability unlikely. She noted the precedent a rezoning would 
set and expressed worry about increased street parking in front of her home. 

Anne Parkins | Davidson Rd 

Ms. Parkins spoke in opposition to the application. She highlighted dangerous traffic 
conditions at Davidson, Cemetery, and Bond Roads, describing high vehicle speeds and a 
lack of driver caution even near the school. She stated that the development would 
worsen already unsafe conditions. 

Jessica Houghton | Okanagan Centre Rd E 

Ms. Houghton spoke in opposition to the application. She stated that despite her 
profession normally involving collaboration with developers, she strongly disagrees with 
the rezoning and questioned claims that the project would provide affordable housing 
without clear pricing or criteria for who could access the units. She also emphasized that 
Davidson Road Elementary is already at maximum capacity, describing overcrowding 
challenges such as multiple Christmas concerts and frequent split classes. She expressed 
concern about the long-term precedent the rezoning would set for surrounding rural 
properties and urged Council to consider the community’s overwhelming opposition. 

Dora Attrell | Camp Rd  

Ms. Trell spoke in opposition to the application. She stated simply that the community’s 
overall position had been clearly expressed. 

Deb Geier | Artella Dr. 

Deb Geier spoke in opposition to the application. She expressed concern about 
increasingly dangerous traffic conditions on Davidson Road and surrounding 
intersections, noting fast-moving vehicles, heavy use by cyclists, and poor visibility when 
entering the roadway from Artella Drive. She stated that adding 55 units would 
significantly worsen safety risks and congestion, especially near the bottom of Davidson 
Road where multiple developments are already proceeding. She urged Council to 
seriously consider the cumulative impact on the neighbourhood and questioned 
whether such density would be acceptable in Councillors’ own neighbourhoods. 

The Mayor asked a first and second time if there were any additional comments from 
the gallery. 

Jason Schmidt | Bond Road 

Mr. Schmidt spoke in opposition to the application. He stated that he and his family walk 
the area daily and described current traffic and road safety conditions as already 
dangerous. He expressed concern that adding significant density would worsen these 
issues, arguing that the location cannot safely support additional population. While 
supportive of responsible growth and affordable housing in principle, he stated that this 
site is not an appropriate or safe place for such development. 



 

 6 

The Mayor asked a third time if there were any more comments from the gallery that 
wished to speak for the first time.  No one came forward. The Mayor asked if anyone 
would like to address Council a second time. 

Barb Van Essen | Lake Country 

Ms. Van Essen reiterated her opposition to the application. She stated concerns that 
provincial support for affordable or low-income housing had been reduced and 
questioned whether the project would truly deliver affordable units or simply transition 
into costly market housing if grants were not available. She also noted that other areas, 
such as the land assembly near the Home Hardware corridor, present more suitable 
locations for development aligned with the community plan. She emphasized the 
importance of ensuring any future housing is high-quality, genuinely affordable, and 
appropriately sited, and concluded that the proposed development does not fit the 
land’s characteristics or the community’s expressed position. 

Anne Marie Locas | Bond Rd. 

Ms. Locas reiterated her opposition to the application. She questioned the use of the 
term affordable housing, noting that CMHC provides a specific definition and that no 
current provincial grants are available to support such housing in B.C. She argued that 
locating “affordable” units in an area where residents would require two vehicles 
contradicts the concept of affordability. She also raised concerns about parking overflow 
on Bond and Davidson Roads, the presence of farm equipment using those routes, and 
the unsafe topography at the intersection. She urged Council to visit the site, especially 
at night, to understand the safety issues. 

Bob Horner | Bond Rd 

Mr. Horner continued his opposition to the application stating development outside the 
Urban Containment Boundary increases car dependency, congestion, and emissions, and 
emphasized that parking spillover onto Bond Road is inevitable regardless of studies 
presented. He noted this would narrow the roadway further and increase safety risks for 
schoolchildren. The speaker stressed this is not anti-growth but a call for growth in 
appropriate, well-serviced locations, and argued that the proposal represents 
over-development of a small rural site without necessary infrastructure, transition 
planning, or policy justification. He urged Council to reject the rezoning to preserve the 
OCP, protect rural neighbourhood character, ensure safe conditions, and support 
sustainable, community-aligned growth. 

Ryan McCartney| Bond Rd 

Mr. McCartney spoke in opposition to the application. He raised concerns about future 
parking overflow questioning how enforcement would work if residents of a large 
development also needed on-street parking. He also expressed worry that significantly 
increased density could affect neighbourhood safety and potentially lead to increased 
crime, emphasizing the importance of preserving the safe, family-oriented character of 
Lake Country. 

Arnie Friesen | Cemetery Rd 

Ms. Friesen reiterated her opposition to the application urging Council to choose the 
option to not support the proposal, stating that expanding the Urban Containment 
Boundary along Bond Road would create a “slippery slope” leading to further 
high-density development proposals in the area. She emphasized that approving this 
rezoning would set an undesirable precedent and the only responsible decision is to 
reject the application. 



 

 7 

Kristy Reiche | Bond Rd 

Ms. Reiche reiterated opposition to the application and questioned the validity of the 
developer’s traffic and site studies, stating that despite being in the area daily, she has 
never observed any on-site data collection and doubts whether proper studies were 
conducted. She requested transparency about how long the studies occurred and what 
methodology was used, emphasizing that the results appear inaccurate and should not 
be relied upon when considering the application. 

Phil Bakker | Okanagan Centre Rd E 

Mr. Bakker reiterated opposition to the application emphasizing that repeated changes 
to the Official Community Plan erode public trust in Council and noted that residents 
expect decisions to be grounded in consistent, well-justified planning. He urged Council 
to perform full due diligence by demanding clear, verifiable data rather than unspecified 
or unsubstantiated reports before making any decision. He stated that maintaining trust 
requires careful, evidence-based evaluation of the proposal and concluded by 
encouraging Council to uphold that responsibility. 

Deb Geier | Camp Rd. 

Ms. Guyer spoke again in opposition to the application. She urged Council members to 
personally visit and observe traffic conditions on Bond Road and at nearby intersections, 
noting poor visibility, narrow roadways, and existing safety concerns when entering or 
exiting the area. She stated that adding more traffic from the development would 
further worsen unsafe conditions. She requested that, should the project proceed, 
Council seriously address intersection upgrades rather than leaving them unchanged as 
has occurred elsewhere in the neighbourhood. 

The Mayor asked a first, second, and third time if there were any additional comments 
from the gallery. There were none. 

4. Closure of Public Hearing 

The Mayor terminated the public hearing at 6:49pm. 

 
 

   

Mayor, Blair Ireland  Corporate Officer, Reyna Seabrook 

   

 














































	2026-01-20 PH Minutes Final with attachments.pdf
	Correspondence after 930.pdf

